1	Luke Busby, Esq.	
2	Nevada Bar No. 10319	
3	216 East Liberty St.	
4	Reno, NV 89501 775-453-0112	Electronically Filed Nov 07 2016 08:31 a.m
5	luke@lukeandrewbusbyltd.com	Elizabeth A. Brown
6		Clerk of Supreme Cour
7	Attorney for Appellants Comstock Residents Association & Joe McCarthy	
8	Residents Association & Joe McCariny	
9		
10	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF T	HE STATE OF NEVADA
11	COMSTOCK RESIDENTS	
12	ASSOCIATION, JOE MCCARTHY,	
13		
14	Appellants,	CASE NO. 70738
15	VS.	
16		
17	LYON COUNTY BOARD OF	
18	COMMISSIONERS,	
19	Defendant-Respondent,	
20		_/
21	///	
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28	APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF	1

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 3A(b)(1) grants the Supreme Court jurisdiction over this appeal. On June 14, 2016, the District Court issued its Order Denying Petition ("Order"). Joint Appendix ("JA") 175. The Order was entered on June 15, 2016. JA 182. The District Court's Order constitutes a final order as it disposed entirely of the issues raised in this case. Appellants timely filed this appeal on July 1, 2016. JA 241.

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUE

The Nevada Public Records Act ("NRPA"), codified in Nevada Revised Statutes ("NRS") Chapter 239, mandates disclosure of public records created by Governmental entities conducting the public's business. The question presented to the Court is whether Respondent Lyon County Board of Commissioners may withhold disclosure of public records when they conduct official business using personal electronic devices or personal email accounts?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

L 1

This is an appeal from an order denying Appellants Comstock
Residents Association and Joe McCarthy's (collectively "CRA")

Petition for Writ of Mandate challenging Lyon County's determination
that records created by its employees and Commissioners in the course
of conducting their official duties on personal electronic devices or
personal email accounts are not subject to disclosure under the Nevada

Public Records Act. The Petition was heard and a subsequent Order was
issued by the Third Judicial District Court, Lyon County, Hon. Steven
R. Kosach, Senior District Judge.

IV. ROUTING STATEMENT

Appellant CRA respectfully submits that this appeal is appropriate for resolution in the Supreme Court. As an appeal arising from litigation over a decision by a local government to withhold public records under the NPRA, this action does not fall within any of the presumptive categories for review by the Nevada Court of Appeals of NRAP 17(a)(1)-(12) or 17(b)(1)-(10). Lyon County is not an administrative agency (see e.g., NRS 233B.031 defining "agency" for purposes of the

Nevada Administrative Procedure Act, as a constituent part of the "Executive Department of the State Government"). As such, the "administrative agency appeals" provisions of NRAP 17(a)(9) and 17(b)(4) do not on their face apply to this appeal.

This appeal raises a question of first impression in Nevada under the NPRA. Namely: whether a public agency may shield otherwise public records from disclosure where its officials and employees conduct official business using personal electronic devices or personal email accounts. This appeal raises statewide issues of public importance under NRAP 17(a)(14) because, as the District Court recognized in its Order, its holding "may cause public employees to skirt the disclosure requirements of the NPRA by conducting business on their private devices." JA 180.

The Supreme Court's decision in this case will provide critical guidance to local governments on issues directly affecting Nevada citizens right to access public records. As a result, Appellant CRA submits that this appeal should be directly assigned to the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(14).

V. BACKGROUND

This NPRA case arises out of a contested land use decision regarding an application by Comstock Mining Incorporated ("CMI") to change to longstanding land use and zoning designation for property within Silver City, Nevada. Silver City is one of two communities Lyon County dedicated as a living, historic community. As modern planning and zoning emerged for the area, Silver City has retained this historical backdrop as its foundation, and overlaid a modern transect of desired development. Using zoning law, Lyon County has consistently envisioned the "Silver City Town Site" as a commercial core with a small industrial zone, which includes some relic historic mills and mines, all surrounded by residential development. Zoning provisions assigned residential densities within the Town Site reflected existing conditions and promoted densities capable of facilitating infrastructure improvement.

Beyond the boundaries of the Town Site, land use has consistently been designated for less dense development and open space. Using different designations with different names, this basic concept has

carried through generations of Lyon County land use plans for Silver City since 1971.

In August 2013 and in order to mine its property, CMI applied to Lyon County to change the land use designations and zoning within Silver City from more urban to more rural, which would allow industrial uses, such as mining, which had been prohibited. See generally JA 041-076.

Lyon County professional planning staff exhaustively reviewed CMI's application and issued in-depth reports on the requested changes and recommended that CMI's application be denied based on multiple factors, including but not limited to the following: industrial land uses requested by CMI's application were in conflict with multiple 2010 Master Plan policies; no change in conditions has occurred to justify so altering the longstanding land use designations within Silver City; and as envisioned by the 2010 Master Plan, a land use change of such a magnitude should be considered, if at all, during the development of the Silver City Community Plan. *Id.* After hearing hours of public testimony, the Lyon County Planning Commission adopted the

recommendation of its professional staff and recommended – by a 4 to 1 1 vote – that the Lyon County Commission deny CMI's requested 3 4 changes. JA 82-86. 5 The Lyon County Commissioners thereafter reversed the 6 7 recommendation of both its planning staff and Planning Commission at 8 its January 2, 2014 meeting. At the beginning meeting, Commissioner 10 Keller announced she had a new action for consideration. 11 Commissioner Keller indicated she had contacted other Commissioners 12 13 and CMI to discuss her proposal outside of a public meeting. JA 082-14 086.115 16 As it turned out, Commissioner Keller and other members of the 17 Lyon County Commissioners used their personal devices or email 18 19 accounts to conduct official business regarding CMI's land use 20 application. Indeed, the Commissioners listed as official contact their 21 22 personal cell phone numbers and used their personal email addresses on 23 24 25 ¹Respondent CRA sought judicial review of Lyon County's land use decision. That case, Nevada Supreme Court Docket No. 68433, was 26 argued before the Supreme Court, on September 14, 2016 and is 27 awaiting a panel decision.

12

28

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Lyon County's website. See e.g. JA 095; JA 093. Candid admissions of this fact are also made in briefs and declarations submitted by Lyon County during the course of the underlying litigation.

On February 11, 2014, the Petitioners submitted to the Lyon County Board of County Commissioners and Lyon County staff a request for all public records pursuant to the NPRA related to CMI's 2013 application for the master plan amendment and zoning change, including but not limited to all records of communication regarding CMI to or from the Lyon County Commissioners regardless of whether they occurred on devices owned by Lyon County or personally by the Lyon County Commissioners. JA 037-038.

Lyon County responded to Petitioners' NPRA request and provided, inter alia, copies of phone records, emails and other records in electronic form as long as those records were created and/or stored on county administration owned and controlled equipment. See e.g. JA 093. However, Lyon County refused to provide any record received, created or stored by an individual County Commissioner or employee on a personal device, stating: "Lyon County does not provide cellular

phones for the County Commissioners, and as such, Lyon County does not maintain any of those records and they are not public records pursuant to NRS Chapter 239." JA 40. Petitioners then brought this action to enforce Lyon County's obligation under the NPRA to produce all relevant public records.

G. District Court Proceedings

CRA filed its Petition for Writ of Mandate ("Petition") on October 24, 2014 (JA 001) after the District Court denied CRA's request to add the NPRA to its existing lawsuit challenging Lyon County's land use decision (JA 127-129). CRA's Petition states a single cause of action for violation of the NPRA, alleging that public officials may not shield from disclosure by using personal electronic devices or email accounts to create, store or receive otherwise public records. JA 009. Lyon County answered the CRA's Petition on December 5, 2014. JA 015-021. The parties thereafter briefed the merits of CRA's Petition. JA 022, JA 099, JA 162.

On June 14, 2016, the District Court denied CRA's Petition. JA - 175. The District Court determined that the NPRA did not reach

records, which would otherwise be public if located on County systems, because the Commissioners paid for their personal devices and email accounts, "which tends to show that these records are not public." The District Court also held that records on personal devices and accounts are not "open to public inspection" as required by the NPRA and outside of the control of the public agency. The District Court also found that the requested records were not, in and of themselves, "official actions" of Lyon County and therefore beyond the reach of the NPRA. The District Court concluded that it lacked the authority to order production under the NPRA over personal devices and accounts. Finally, the District Court recognized that its "holding may cause public employees to skirt the provisions of the NPRA by conducting business on their private devices." JA 175-180.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The NPRA requires public agencies, their elected officials and staff, to produce public records. A record is public if it concerns a public matter. An otherwise public record does not loose public status simply because it was created, received or stored on a personal device or

24

25

26

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

personal account. As long as the public entity or individual has sufficient control over the device or account, the NPRA compels disclosure. Thus, Lyon County legally erred when it withheld from disclosure public records solely because the records were stored on officials' and staff members' personal electronic devices or personal accounts.

STANDARD OF REVIEW VII.

This Court reviews the District Court's Order for an abuse of discretion. However, the District Court's legal conclusions and statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. Las Vegas Police Department v. Blackjack Bonding, 131 Nev. ____, 343 P.3d 608, 612 (2015)

VIII. ARGUMENT

CRA Seeks Public Records Α.

No party disputes that the NPRA applies to individual County Commissioners and employees and staff. NRS 239.005(a) and (b); JA 103. Further, no party disputes that Lyon County officials and staff used their personal electronic devices and private email accounts to conduct governmental business. JA 102 ("The County Commissioners use their 16

cellular telephones and email accounts for private matters in addition to County Business."). Lyon County concedes the NPRA requires disclosure of public records created or received by Commissioners and staff on their personal devices and accounts if those records subsequently were stored on County-owned systems. JA 154, at ¶ 2 (County provided "phone records, emails and other records in electronic form, as long as those records were created and or stored on county-owned and controlled equipment." (Emphasis added)).

Lyon County withheld public records on the basis that the NPRA does not apply to records created or received by government officials and employees in the course of their public duties if those records remain on their personal devices or private accounts. In other words, Lyon County (and the District Court) assert that whether a record falls within the NPRA is controlled by the electronic record's place of storage rather than its content. As demonstrated below, Lyon County and the District Curt's legal position is supported neither by law nor policy.

B. The NPRA Is Broadly Construed to Protect Citizen Access to Public Records

This Court broadly applies the NPRA to maximize public

disclosure:

The NPRA provides that all public books and public records of governmental entities must remain open to the public, unless "otherwise declared by law to be confidential." NRS 239.010(1). The Legislature has declared that the purpose of the NPRA is to further the democratic ideal of an accountable government by ensuring that public records are broadly accessible. NRS 239.001(1). Thus, the provisions of the NPRA are designed to promote government transparency and accountability.

In 2007, in order to better effectuate these purposes, the Legislature amended the NPRA to provide that its provisions must be liberally construed to maximize the public's right of access. NRS 239.001(1)-(2); 2007 Nev. Stat., ch. 435, § 2, at 2061. Conversely, any limitations or restrictions on the public's right of access must be narrowly construed. NRS 239.001(3); 2007 Nev. Stat., ch. 435, § 2, at 2061. In addition, the Legislature amended the NPRA to provide that if a state entity withholds records, it bears the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the records are confidential. NRS 239.0113; 2007 Nev. Stat., ch. 435, § 5, at 2062.

Reno Newspapers v. Gibbons, 127 Nev. 873, 877-878; 266 P.3d 623,

626 (2011).

In light of the foregoing authority, Lyon County bore the burden to establish its limitations on granting access to the requested government records are lawful or that the records are confidential.

Public Records Are Defined By Content Not Location

Under the plain language of the Nevada Public Records Act ("NRPA"), the nature of the communication, rather than delivered address, is the determinative factor of whether the record is public.² In Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v. Blackjack Bonding, Inc., 343 P.3d 608, 131 Nev. Adv. Rep. 10 (Nev. 2015), the Court analyzed independently whether a record was public from whether the government entity had the ability to access those public records. *Id.* at 612-613. The Supreme Court's determination that the records at issue were public rested on the nature of the record; i.e., did it pertain to a matter of public interest? *Id*. Here, no dispute exists that the records CRA requested pertain to a matter of public interest (CMI's land use application) and during the

² This is particularly relevant here because the officials advertised to the public that the proper address to receive communications were their personal addresses (both physical and electronic).

performance of public officials' public duties (consideration of CMI's application by the County Commission).

Although the Nevada Supreme Court has not addressed the question presented, other jurisdictions have and confirm that the nature of the record rather than its location controls. For example, in Competitive Enterprise Institute v. Office of Science and Technology Policy, ---F.3d--- (D.C. Cir. 2016), 2016 WL 3606551 (July 5, 2016), the federal Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia held the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA") required federal officials to search non-federal email accounts used for official work-related correspondence. "Because we agree with plaintiff-appellant that an agency cannot shield its records from search or disclosure under FOIA by the expedient of storing them in a private email account controlled by the agency head, we reverse the dismissal and remand the case for further proceedings." *Id.* at *1. Similarly, in O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 150, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010), the Washington Supreme Court held that state's Public Records Act ("PRA") applied to records stored on government employees' personal computers used for government business. More

recently, the same court, in *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 1 357 P.3d 45 (Wash. 2015), extended in prior holding such that "text 3 4 messages sent and received by a public employee in the employee's 5 official capacity are public records of the employer, even if the 6 7 employee uses a private cell phone." *Id*. See also *City of Champaign v*. Lisa Madigan, 992 N.E.2d 629, 2013 Ill. App. LEXIS 481, 372 Ill. Dec. 10 787, 2013 WL 3704619 (Ill. App. Ct. 4th Dist. 2013) (Records of city 11 aldermen communication on private electronic devices about public 12 13 business constituted public records). These cases, like *Blackjack* 14 Bonding, find records produced by government official and staff, in the 15 16 course of their public duties, are public records regardless of whether 17 they were produced, received or stored on personal devices or email 18 19 accounts. 20 Further, the 2014 version of the State Administrative Manual 21 22 ("SAM") Nevada Department of Administration provides that although 23 24 state employees may use personal devices to conduct state business, 25 26

"Employees must be aware that it is possible the record of use for any device used for State business, could be considered a public record."

D. Government Officials And Staff Have Sufficient Control Over Their Devices and Accounts

The public records sought by CRA appear to reside on the personal electronic devices (cellular phones and computers) and/or on personal accounts supporting such devices (e.g., internet mail or cellular service providers' servers). Lyon County argues that the public records CRA seeks are stored on servers of third parties and therefore "may" not be within the "legal custody or control" of a Commissioner or employee and therefore are not public. JA105-106.

As an initial matter, this argument does not reach to records stored on or that could be accessed by the Commissioners or employees' personal devices as they would clearly have control that equipment.

Likewise, the holder of an email account has sufficient control to access records stored on it. *Competitive Enterprise Institute*, supra; see also

³ (SAM at 1616, available at

http://budget.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/budgetnvgov/content/Docume nts/State%20Administrative%20Manual.pdf)

1	Kiser v. Pride Communs., Inc., 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124124 *, 2011
2 3	WL 5080162 (D. Nev. Oct. 26, 2011) ("Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 34,
4	documents sought in discovery motions must be within the "possession,
56	custody, or control" of the party upon whom the request is served.
7 8	However, the 'phrase 'possession, custody, or control' is disjunctive and
9	only one of the numerated requirements need be met.' Soto v. City of
10 11	Concord, 162 F.R.D. 603, 619 (N.D.Cal. 1995)(quoting Cumis Ins.
12	Society, Inc. v. South-Coast Bank, 610 F.Supp. 193, 196 (N.D. Ind.
13 14	1985). Therefore, "actual possession" is not required. Soto, 162 F.R.D.
15	at 619. Rather, a 'party may be ordered to produce a document in the
16 17	possession of a non-party entity if that party has a legal right to obtain
18	the document or has control over the entity who is in possession of the
19 20	document.' <i>Id</i> . (internal citation omitted).").
21	More importantly, Lyon County seeks to inappropriately shift the
2223	burden of compliance with the NPRA to Appellant CRA. Lyon County
24	refused to produce public records without proof that the records are not
2526	within the legal custody or control of the Commissioners or employees.
27	Indeed, Lyon County admits that the terms of those contracts are
28	APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF 23

14

17

18

19 20

21

22 23

25

24

27

26

"unknown" to its central administration and therefore "it is not clear" if the records are under the Commissioners' control. JA 106. In order to avoid producing these otherwise clearly public records, it is Lyon County's burden to prove that its Commissioners or employees lack adequate control over them. PERS v. Reno Newspapers, Inc., 313 P.3d 221, 223-224 (2013); NRS 239.0107. Since Lyon County admits that it does not know whether the individuals lack control to access these records, it cannot categorically deny disclosing all of the requested records.

When faced with these same arguments, other courts' impose a simple good faith effort test. In Nissen v. Pierce County, supra, the Washington Supreme Court held that records on personal devices regarding public matters where indeed public:

> Of course, the public's statutory right to public records does not extinguish an individual's constitutional rights in private information. But we do not read the [Public Records Act] as a zero-sum choice between personal liberty and government accountability. Instead, we turn to well-settled principles of public disclosure law and hold that an employee's good-faith search for public records on his or her personal device can satisfy an agency's obligations under the PRA.

Id.

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