IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

COMSTOCK RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION, JEOE MCCARTHY,

Appellants,

VS.

LYON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Dec 22 2016 02:37 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 70738

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from Judgment of Conviction, Third Judicial District Court, The Honorable Steven R. Kosach, Senior Judge, Case No.

LIKE BUSBY, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 10319 216 East Liberty Street Reno, Nevada 89501 (775)333-6633

Attorney for Appellants

STEPHEN B. RYE, ESQ. Lyon County District Attorney Nevada State Bar No. 5761 31 S. Main Street Yerington, NV 89447 (775)463-6511

Attorney for Respondent

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Communications by Lyon County employees and public officials to and from private email accounts or private electronic devices, such as cellular telephones, are not public records under the Nevada Public records Act (NPRA). This is the only reasonable conclusion because such communications are not "open to public inspection," they are not under the legal custody or control of the County and are not accessible to the County, employees or public officials, and privacy rights preclude release of the records.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Respondent Lyon County Board of Commissioners ("Lyon County") agrees with the jurisdictional statement as set forth by Appellants.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This action under the Nevada Public Records Act (NPRA) does not fall within any if the presumptive categories for cases assigned to either the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17. This appeal involves an issue of first impression under the NPRA, and this determination will provide guidance to Nevada governmental entities and agencies on issues directly affecting public records requests in Nevada. Either the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court can decide this case.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

This case presents a very important and undecided question in Nevada: are emails and cellular telephone communications to and from private electronic devices and private email accounts public records under the Nevada Public Records Act? Lyon County submits that the answer to this question is no.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 24, 2014, CRA filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate requesting that the District Court order Lyon County to comply with the NPRA. Lyon County filed an answer on December 5, 2014. On November 30, 2015, CRA filed brief in support of the Petition. On January 4, 2016, Lyon County filed its brief in support of the answer. The District Court held a hearing on the matter on April 14, 2016.

On June 14, 2016, the District Court, Senior Judge Kosach, entered the Order denying CRA's Petition. CRA appeals the decision of the District Court and contests the decision of the District Court denying the Petition.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The relevant facts for this case are set forth herein. In 2013, Comstock Mining, Inc. filed an application with the Lyon County Community Development Department to change the master plan and zoning designations for certain property in the Silver City area of Lyon County ("CMI Application"). The application

Commission on November 12, 2013 and December 10, 2013, and the CMI Application was ultimately approved by the Lyon County Board of Commissioners at a hearing held January 2, 2014. The Board of County Commissioners approved the Application by a vote of 4-1. Joint Appendix (JA) 85.

CRA spends considerable time describing a background which is not part of the record in this case and is opinion not based on fact. The issues surrounding the land use decision could have been made part of the record had CRA decided to do so. All parts of the Background presented by CRA and not referenced in the record in this Case must be disregarded by the Court.

After approval of the Comstock Mining, Incorporated land use applications, the Comstock Residents Association ("CRA") filed an action on January 31, 2014, in District Court challenging the decision of Lyon County on the Planning Application. That case proceeded to court, a decision by the District Court upholding the decision of Lyon County, and an appeal to this Court in Case No. 68433.

On February 11, 2014, John L. Marshall, Attorney at Law, representing CRA at the time, made a public records request to Lyon County, Lyon County Commissioners and Lyon County Staff. ("Public Records Request") JA 131-132.

The Request was addressed to the Lyon County Board of Commissioners and Lyon

County Staff, c/o Jeff Page, Lyon County Manager. *Id.* Over the course of the next several months, numerous records and documents were provided by Lyon County. It is critical to understand the parameters and scope of the request in this case. The initial public records request was as follows:

Specifically, I request access to any and all records related to Comstock Mining, Inc. Application for Master Plan Amendment and Zoning Change (PLZ-13-0050, 0051) This request includes, but is not limited to, any and all records of communication between Comstock Mining, Inc., ("CMI") and members of the Lyon County Board of Commissioners and Lyon County Staff, including but not limited to phone recordings, emails, internal documents and communications, notes, and any and all other related documents in the possession of you subject to disclosure under Nevada's public records law. These records also include records of all communications between CMI and you regardless of whether the communications occurred on private or public devices. (emphasis added).

The County sought further clarification of the request. On March 20, 2014, Mr. Marshall provided by email the following "since we know Ms. Keller's response was inadequate, we urge Lyon County to carefully search its files, physical and electronic <u>as well as those of its Commissioners</u> and provide a full response as soon as possible. "JA 134. The initial request dealt with matters related to the application filed by CMI that the County decided on January 2, 2014.

The County sought further clarification as to the parameters of the request, and on March 21, 2014, Mr. Marshall expanded the request significantly as follows:

I do agree that CRA February 11 Request is limited to records concerning CMI's application for the master plan and zone change. Please treat my

email of yesterday as expanding that request to all records of communication with Comstock Mining Incorporated from January 1, 2010 to the present.

JA 135. The Public Records Request further included phone logs/records, texts, emails or any other form of communication. JA 135.

The County responded to the request by providing thousands of pages of documents, cellular phone bills kept or maintained at the County, long distance phone records kept or maintained by the County, an email from the County explaining the new phone system and ability to retrieve records. JA 136-152.

Numerous emails received by the County Commissioners on private email accounts were included in the public records response provided by the County. JA 150-151.

Lyon County does not provide or reimburse the County Commissioners for cellular telephones and the County does maintain any of those records. JA 149; 154. Lyon County does not pay for or reimburse County Commissioners for cellular telephones, computers or email accounts. *Id.* At the time of this public records request (2014), Lyon County Commissioners paid for their own cellular telephones and home computers and private email accounts. Lyon County does not maintain email records or telephone records for County Commissioners' private telephones and email accounts. JA 154. The County Commissioners use their cellular telephones and email accounts for private matters in addition to County Business. JA 155.

Commissioner Hastings used a cellular telephone provided and paid for by his employer, a third party not affiliated with Lyon County. JA 155.

Commissioner Hastings does not receive the bills, is unware of records retention of those bills and is not familiar with whether multiple phones are billed on the same invoice. *Id*.

The County provides certain staff with cellular telephones and bills for those devices are sent directly to the County, paid by the County and the telephone bills are maintained by the County. JA 155. Copies of these bills and records were provided to Petitioners pursuant to the Public Records Request. *Id*.

The County did not have a policy for gathering or retaining text messages sent or received from either County owned or privately paid for cellular telephones. The County does not maintain in its offices or on its computer servers any emails sent or received from commissioners, employees or officials private cellular or private email accounts. *Id*.

The County had approximately 341 employees at the time the Petition was filed, which includes employees, appointed and elected officials who are paid employees. In addition, the County had approximately 125 appointed officials (including the County Health Officer and Public Administrator) who are unpaid that serve on advisory boards and in similar capacities for Lyon County. JA 155.

At the time of this request, Lyon County did not have a written policy regarding the use of private cellular telephones, computers and email account. *Id*.

Although Petitioners focus on the County Commissioners' records in this case, this Public Records Request is not limited to the County Commissioners and must be reviewed with respect to the specific request directed to all elected officials, employees and staff. The decision may well be different if the actual parameters of the request in this case are evaluated.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Lyon County agrees with the standard of review set forth by CRA. This Court reviews a district court's grant or denial of a writ petition for an abuse of discretion. However, this Court reviews the district court's interpretation of case law and statutory language de novo. *LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 10, 343 P.3d 608, 612 (2015), *reh'g denied* (May 29, 2015), *reconsideration en banc denied* (July 6, 2015) (internal citations omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. The Records Sought by CMI are not Public Records

The Nevada Legislature has declared that the purpose of the Nevada Public Records Act (NPRA) is to further the democratic ideal of an accountably government by ensuring that public records are broadly accessible. NRS

239.001(1). "All public books and public records of a governmental entity, the contents of which are not otherwise declared by law to be confidential, must be open at all times during office hours to inspection by any person, and may be fully copied or an abstract or memorandum may be prepared from those public books and public records." NRS 239.010. The provisions of the NPRA are designed to promote government transparency and accountability. *Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons*, 127 Nev. Adv. Op. 79, 266 P.3d 623 (2011). Open records are the rule and any nondisclosure is the exception. Id. at 627 (citing *Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Sheriff*, 126 Nev. 211, 234 P.3d 922 (2010)).

"Governmental entity" for purposes of the NPRA includes county departments and elected and appointed officers of the County. NRS 239.005(5). The parties agree that Lyon County, elected officials, appointed officials and County Commissioners are subject to the provisions of the NPRA. However, that does not answer the question in this case. The issue is whether the information requested are public records and whether the County and the County Commissioners are required to disclose the same.

- A. Private Cellular Phone Records and Private Email Records are not Public Records under the Nevada Public Records Act (NPRA)
 - 1. The Records Sought are not Open To Public Inspection

"All public books and records of a governmental entity must be open at all times during office hours to inspection by any person." NRS 239.010(1). This section explicitly provides that public books and records are those that are open to inspection during office hours. The private emails and private electronic devices of an individual commissioner or a county employee are never open to inspection by any person. Employees and public officials do not have regular office hours or a system to maintain such records such that they can be "open to inspection." To allow such would open up a Commissioner's or employee's home or business to inspection at all times during office hours. That is not the purpose or intent of the NPRA. The NPRA clearly contemplates records that are maintained at the government location or on equipment provided or maintained by the government. The Court must interpret the statute in a way that gives meaning to the words of the statute. Southern Nevada Homebuilders Ass'n v. Clark Cty., 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005). The Court must also construe the statute in a manner that avoids absurd results. California Commercial v. Amedeo Vegas I, *Inc.*, 119 Nev. 143, 145, 67 P.3d 328, 330 (2003).

If Lyon County were required to control and maintain the public officials' and employees' private correspondence as CRA suggests, this Court would have decided cases allowing access to public officials' home file cabinets, for example, to look for correspondence, phone records, notes or other public books or records.

In order for the Court to declare the records on these private devices "public records" it would have to completely disregard the "open to inspection" language in the statute. Or it would lead to the absurd result of having private records and residences and businesses open to inspection by the public. That is not the intent or plain meaning of the statute and such a reading is not consistent with tenets of statutory construction.

2. The Records are not in the Legal Custody or Control of the Commissioners, Employees or County

NRS 239.010(4) states, in part, that "an officer, employee or agent of a governmental entity who has legal custody or control of a public record: (a) shall not refuse to provide a copy . . ." In many cases, the county commissioner or employee does not have legal custody or control of the record requested if it is on a private email account or device. A governmental entity's duty to disclose a public record applies only to records within the entity's custody or control. *Blackjack Bonding*, 343 P.3d at 612. LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding involved a request by Blackjack for certain inmate telephone records. Las Vegas Metro had a contract with Century Link to provide the inmate telephone services. The contract specifically provided that the requested information could be generated by the inmate telephone system that Century Link provides and could be obtained by LVMPD. *Id.* at 613.

With respect to this request for records by CRA, the facts are quite different than those in *Blackjack Bonding*. None of the County Commissioners, and it is unlikely any of the employees, elected officials or appointed officials maintain private email servers to keep their emails. Each of the accounts at issue in this case is on a separate internet email service provider or server.

The NAC defines "legal custody" as follows:

NAC 239.051. "Legal custody" defined. (NRS 239.125, 378.255) "Legal custody" means all rights and responsibilities of access to and maintenance of a record which are vested in an office or department of a local government entity and with the official or head of the department charged with the care, custody and control of that record.

The County Clerk is charged with the care, custody and control of the records of the board of county commissioners, and the County Clerk is charged with the rights and responsibilities of access to and maintenance of the records of the County Commission. NRS 244.075. Because the County and County Commissioners do not have legal custody or control of the information, it is not a "public record" for purposes of the NPRA.

Blackjack Bonding is further distinguishable because the Legislature has declared that "the use of private entities in the provision of public services must not deprive members of the public access to inspect and copy books and records relating to the provision of those services." NRS 239.001(4). There is no similar provision relating to private email accounts and private devices of staff or public

officials. There was a specific contract between CenturyLink and LVMPD in the *Blackjack Bonding* case which indicated the requested information could be generated by the inmate telephone system. *Blackjack Bonding*, 343 P.3d at 613.

Petitioners want the Court to adopt the standard that public records are defined by content not location. This Court has never adopted such a rule because that is not what the Nevada Public Records Act states. Whether a certain record is "public" under the Act certainly depends on content. However, the plain language of the statute also requires that it depend on location. To read otherwise is to ignore the express provisions of the Act regarding "legal custody or control" and "open to inspection." This Court cannot ignore these integral provisions of the statutes.

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